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Clarification Note #1 

Procurement procedure: GSA/CD/14/14- ‘Galileo Service Operator’ 

Question #1: The TIP in section 2.4.6 stipulates the estimation of a budgetary ceiling for the entire 
duration of the Contract in the indicative range between €900,000,000.00 and €1,200,000,000.00. 
We have the following Clarification Question to this requirement: Does the indicated budget 
envelope include the budget volume for “assigned contracts” and is it related to the full scope of 
the FWC over the whole contract duration? 
 
Answer: The indicated budget envelope includes the budget volume for “assigned contracts” and is 
it related to the full scope of the FWC over the whole contract duration. Please consider that as 
indicated under section 2.4.6 of the TIP that the budget envelope is the current GSA estimation on 
the basis of the scope and objectives of the GSOp procurement, as described in the Annex 2 of TIP 
(the High Level Requirements Document) as well as on the basis of a number of assumptions on 
possible technical and legal means needed to meet GSOp scope and objectives. The above 
mentioned elements are subject to discussions with the Candidates in frame of competitive 
dialogue. The estimation is therefore only indicative and the GSA has reserved the right to modify it 
as a result of outcome of the dialogue phase. 

Question #2: The TIP in section 2.5.3.2 elaborates on the application of the GNSS Regulation 
regarding subcontracting.  We have the following clarification question to this requirement: As a 
maximum (indicative) share to be subcontracted is set at 75%, is the balance of 25%, which may 
not be subcontracted, linked to the prime itself or does it include subcontracting to members of 
the “group” of the prime? 
 
Answer: The subcontracts contributing to the calculation of the minimum and maximum share of 
subcontracting are those under paragraphs i), ii) and iii) of section 2.5.3.2, (i.e. subcontractors 
chosen with competitive tendering outside the Group (point i), assigned contracts by GSA (point ii) 
and subcontractor chosen without competition – within or outside the Core Team (point iii). 
Considering the maximum share of subcontracting 75%, the remaining 25% shall be retained by the 
Prime level.    

 
Question #3: The TIP in section 2.5.3.3 stipulates requirements for the presentation of the Core 
Team and Industrial Organisation. We have the following clarification question to these 
requirements: Is a member of the Core Team allowed to take part as a bidder in competitive 
tendering organised by the prime contractor for subcontracting elements or are there any 
restrictions in that respect? 

 
Answer: It is expected that candidates comply with all applicable laws. It follows that Prime 
organising competitive tendering for subcontracting must comply with rules and principles 
governing competitive tendering, conflicts of interest, prohibition of distortion of competition etc.  

Question #4: The TIP in section 3.2.3 requires as proof of financial and economic capacity that 
Candidates shall submit: “(a) Duly filled-in and signed financial statements form (Annex 1-5) 
consisting of an extract of the concerned legal entities’ annual accounts […].These documents 
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must be signed by the authorised representative of the Candidate.” We have the following 
clarification question to these requirements: Who is considered a “concerned legal entity” in the 
sense of section 3.2.3 S.4 lit (a) and correspondingly has to provide the required financial 
statements and documentation?  
 
Answer: The concerned legal entity shall be understood as: all Core Team members (for Core Team 
definition please refer to sections 2.5.3.3 and 5.2 of TIP). 

Question #5: Topic:    Letter of Intent – Declaration of Intent – Power of Attorney; Reference:  TIP, 
sections 3.2 and 4.6 plus Annexes 7 and 8. Question: Section 4.6 a) iii) of the TIP requires that sub-
contractors sign the “Declaration of Intent” template Annex 8. However Annex 8 appears to be a 
Template Power of Attorney, which goes well beyond a letter of Intent. Furthermore,  reference to 
a “Letter of Intent”, also identified as Annex 8, is  included in section 3.2 of the TIP. In this 
instance, it is mentioned that such letter must be signed by “every entity/subcontractor on whose 
resources it relies etc.”. Last, it is Annex 7, not Annex 8, which reads as the template “Letter of 
Intent”, both in its title and in its content, however Annex 7 includes a statement that it is a 
“Template Subcontractor Letter of Intent”. Please clarify the apparent contradictions and confirm 
which entity(ies) are expected to sign the Annex 7 Letter of Intent:  essential subcontractors 
only?  Core Team (consortium members + essential subcontractors)? else?  

Answer: For clarification please follow the table below for identification which legal entities involved 
in Candidate have to provide which documents: 

Annex reference 

Coordinator/Gro
up leader in 
consortium 
tender  

 

In case of a 
consortium All 
partners in a 
consortium  

 

Single or Main 
Contractor  

 

Subcontractor 

 

Annex 7- 

Template Power of Attorney 

No Yes No No 

Annex 8-  

Template Subcontractor 
Letter of Intent 

No No No Yes 

 

 

Question #6: In addition to question 5 above, it is unclear in which circumstance (s) the “Template 
Power of Attorney”, shown as Annex 8 in the documentation made available by the GSA must be 
used. The text of this Annex 8 makes reference to “group members”, which is not a defined term 
in section 5.2 of the TIP but which seems to refer to the co-signatories of the (hypothetical) 
Contract. Please clarify in which circumstances Annex 8 may be used (i.e. in response to section 
4.6 a) ii?) and clarify which entities fall in the category of group members (i.e. consortium 
members)? 

Answer: Please refer to answer to clarification question #5. 

Question #7: Topic:   Industrial Organisation of Candidate; Reference:  TIP, sections 2.5.3.3 and 
2.5.3.4. Please confirm that at this stage of the process and for the purpose of submitting an RtP, it 
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is acceptable that a company be included (as an essential subcontractor) in more than one Core 
Team. 

Answer: GSA public procurement procedures are launched in the context of a free market economy 
and economic operators are free to organise themselves as they so wish, i.e. they can submit a 
request to participate/tender as a single candidate/tenderer, or participate in a consortium, or be a 
subcontractor. As such the direct participation (consortium) or indirect participation 
(subcontracting) of one and the same legal entity in more than one request to participate / tender 
for the same procurement procedure might not be objectionable per se. Each separately submitted 
tender will be evaluated on its own. Candidates are however reminded that it is their duty to ensure 
compliance with applicable laws and that, for example, any arrangement aimed at distorting 
competition or unduly influence the decision-making process of the contracting authority is strictly 
forbidden. The GSA insists, however, that it cannot provide legal advice to candidates, who shall 
therefore seek any legal advice they may need elsewhere as they deem appropriate. 

Question #8: Please clarify whether Annex 6 should maybe be a template compliance matrix to 
the SAL and we have received the SAL as Annex 6. We may be missing the template compliance 
matrix but of course I may have misunderstood. 

Answer: Annex 6 is indeed the Security Aspects Letter (SAL) that is not presented in the format of a 
matrix table. Nevertheless, the Candidates are requested to state compliance to the content of all 
the requirements of SAL as required by sections 2.3 and 3.2.2 of TIP.  

Question #9:  
The GSA has received a clarification request regarding Annex 2 to TIP- High Level Requirements 
document. Since the access to this document is controlled (as per section 2.5.2 of TIP)- the answer 
to this question will be delivered by email (Clarification Note #1-addendum) from ENTR-GALILEO-
GSA@gsa.europa.eu to all potential Candidates to whom access to TIP Annexes has been granted. 
In case you have not received it within reasonable time- please contact ENTR-GALILEO-
GSA@gsa.europa.eu and tenders@gsa.europa.eu.  
 
Question #10: The TIP in section 2.5.1 describes the requirements for confidentiality and the 
procedure for signing the NDA part of the TIP Phase 1 documentation (Annex I).  It states: 
“Candidate (including all entities /consortium members and subcontractors) should submit with 
their RtP 2 (two) duly filled in, initialled and signed originals of NDA (Annex I to TIP) with required 
supporting documents requested therein.” We have the following clarification question to this 
requirement: Does a Candidate as part of its RtP have to provide the required NDA signed by each 
of its chosen Core Team Members and other already identified subcontractors? Does this include 
also NDA signed by identified entities on further subcontracting levels and if so, down to what 
level? 
 
Answer: As defined in section 2.5.1 of the TIP- all entities/consortium members and subcontractors 
must submit the NDA signed. Therefore each of the Candidate Core Team members (as defined in 
section 2.5.3.3 of TIP) and identified subcontractors (at any level) shall sign the NDA before 
submitting the Request to Participate (RtP). 

Question #11: The GSA has received a clarification request regarding Annex 2 to TIP- High Level 
Requirements document. Since the access to this document is controlled (as per section 2.5.2 of 
TIP)- the answer to this question will be delivered by email (Clarification Note #1-addendum) from 
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ENTR-GALILEO-GSA@gsa.europa.eu to all potential Candidates to whom access to TIP Annexes has 
been granted. In case you have not received it within reasonable time- please contact ENTR-
GALILEO-GSA@gsa.europa.eu and tenders@gsa.europa.eu.  
 
Question #12: The TIP in Section 2.4.2 and at various other places, addresses the envisaged 
“assignment” of contracts to GSOp. As example, the TIP in Section 2.4.2 states: “The Contracting 
Authority is planning to assign to the winning Tenderer the administration of a number of 
contracts….”. We have the following Clarification Question to the relevant parts of the TIP, 
including its annexes: Please clarify the terms “assign” and “assignment” as used in the TIP, 
including its annexes, in relation to a number of existing contracts and please clarify their exact 
legal meaning, namely with regard to the roles, rights, obligations and responsibilities of the GSOp 
Contractor. 
 
Answer: The terms “assign” and “assignment” refers to the transfer of the contract from one 
contracting party to another. In the specific case the GSA plans to transfer contracts whereby it 
obtains goods or services (as Customer) to the GSOp who will step in all rights, obligations and 
contractual position of the GSA, according to the terms and conditions of the assigned contract.  

Question #13: On the same issue, the TIP in Section 2.5.3.2 states that “At the expiry of the above 
mentioned contracts, the Contractor will be required to procure follow-on contracts.” We have the 
following Clarification Question to this requirement: Is the requirement regarding procurement of 
follow-on contracts for assigned contracts to be understood in a way that the GSOp Contractor has 
to ensure that follow-on contracts are fully in place upon expiry of the respective assigned 
contracts, including execution of any sufficient and suitable hand-over and migration periods 
before assigned contract expiry? 
 
Answer: Yes, the understanding expressed is correct.  

End of Document 
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